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          1  COMMITTEE ON STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Welcome to the

          3  State and Federal Legislation Committee hearing. I

          4  would like to first recognize the colleagues who are

          5  here today. To my left we have Council Member

          6  Sabini, Council Member Robles. To my right we have

          7  Council Member Lasher and Council Member Steve

          8  DiBrienza.

          9                 We also have counsel to this

         10  Committee to my left, Gilberto Valdez, and also Mr.

         11  Frank Tramontano,  Assistant Director of the Finance

         12  Division. I have also been informed that next to us

         13  we are also having a public hearing, where two of

         14  our members are also participating and they will

         15  soon hopefully joint us, Council Member Oddo and

         16  Council Member Provenzano.

         17                 Today we will consider a variety of

         18  home rule messages. Several items involve

         19  reconveyances of property which taxes were not paid

         20  but where the circumstances were such that the

         21  individual may be entitled to recoup the former

         22  property and after paying all taxes and penalties.

         23                 We will also file SLR 10 because of a

         24  technical error. We will consider legislation which

         25  will create a Correction Officers retirement -- a
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          2  correction officers variable supplements fund to

          3  provide supplement retirement benefits to certain

          4  retired uniform members of the Department of

          5  Correction and beneficiaries of the City's retire --

          6  Department of Correction members of New York City

          7  Employees Retirement System, also referred to as

          8  NYCERS.

          9                 The fund will be directed by a Board

         10  of Trustees made up of the Mayor, or his

         11  representative, the Comptroller, or his

         12  representative, and two members of the Correction

         13  Officer's Benevolent Association.

         14                 All resolutions by the Board will

         15  require three votes for approval, and all

         16  resolutions that do not receive the required three

         17  votes will then be referred to an arbitrator for

         18  final determination.

         19                 The first seven items of the agenda,

         20  includes an SLR to be filed and six reconveyances

         21  which are SLR 10, 11, 26. 37, 40, 57 and 62.

         22                 At this moment we would like to hear

         23  from the Administration, if they have any objection

         24  to these items.

         25                 Will you please identify yourselves,
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          2  both of you, for the record, and also let us know at

          3  this moment if you have any objection to the

          4  reconveyances or items?

          5                 MR. BARSKY: I am not here to speak on

          6  the reconveyance items.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Is there anybody

          8  here from the Mayor's Office who wants to speak up

          9  on that?

         10                 No? No objections.

         11                 We are now going to go into SLR 17.

         12                 MR. BARSKY: Good afternoon, Mr.

         13  Chairman. My name is Adam Barsky.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Do you have a

         15  prepared statement?

         16                 MR. BARSKY: No, but you have a copy

         17  of our memorandum in opposition.

         18                 My name is Adam Barsky, I come here

         19  today in my capacity as the Chairman of the New York

         20  City Employees Retirement System, as the Mayor's

         21  representative. I am joined with me by Andrew

         22  Dowling, who is with the Office of Management and

         23  Budget.

         24                 I believe you do have copies of our

         25  memorandum in opposition. We are opposed to this
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          2  legislation and we urge you not to pass a home rule

          3  message. We believe that for a variety of reasons

          4  this would be a bad idea to move this legislation

          5  forward, at least from City Council's or at any

          6  point, because first and foremost, the cost of this

          7  legislation is incredibly enormous. It is valued at

          8  over $100 million a year and its potential could

          9  even grow much higher. For that reason alone we

         10  believe that it would be fiscally irresponsible to

         11  propose this legislation at this time or probably at

         12  any time in this way.

         13                 Second of all, there is no other

         14  group that has this mechanism available to it, we

         15  see no rationale for it. It would deprive the system

         16  of the funds that it uses now to invest and ensure

         17  that it will meet its obligations in the future and

         18  be used to help minimize contributions made from the

         19  City, so in order to protect the assets of the fund,

         20  and ensure that there will be benefits that can be

         21  paid in the future, we believe that sound fiscal

         22  management would avoid this from being put in place

         23  and we would recommend we would continue to go with

         24  the current system as we have it.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: I just have
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          2  a question.

          3                 MR. BARSKY: Sure.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Essentially

          5  this amounts to a variable supp, or an extension of

          6  that concept to this new group of work.

          7                 MR. BARSKY: Right.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Do the

          9  police have that?

         10                 MR. BARSKY: The police have what is

         11  defined --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: The Fire

         13  have that?

         14                 MR. BARSKY: -- Defined VSF. In fact,

         15  they had one like this many years ago and there was

         16  a policy made and a decision made collectively to

         17  back away from that method and go to something that

         18  was defined and that was done as a result of I

         19  believe collective bargaining.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: And then

         21  how about the Transit and Housing components with

         22  the police; didn't they have this system?

         23                 MR. BARKSY: Yes. The Police part may,

         24  but not the other employees of Transit.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: No, no.
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          2  Transit, Police and Housing Police.

          3                 MR. BARSKY: That is in the same

          4  category with the police, where it was bought out

          5  they do not have this methodology whereby they look

          6  at the stock market returns, versus the fixed amount

          7  and have the difference. They do not have that now.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: I know now,

          9  but originally that is what they had.

         10                 MR. BARSKY: They did have something

         11  originally and then it was --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: And it was

         13  subsequently changed.

         14                 MR. BARSKY: It was subsequently

         15  changed, that's correct.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: And what

         17  other groups, if any, have either methodology?

         18                 Are there any other groups that have

         19  a similar thing under any methodology?

         20                 MR. BARSKY: No.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: No. And,

         22  so, this would be the fourth, and fourth group to

         23  have some kind of variable supp kind of program,

         24  even though the methodology is different; is that

         25  correct?
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          2                 MR. BARSKY: That's correct.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: When I say

          4  fourth group, I mean it is all NYPD now, but it is

          5  NYPD, historically Housing Police, Transit Police

          6  and Corrections.

          7                 MR. BARSKY: That's correct.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: One could

          9  call it the second group, but I am looking at it as

         10  four.

         11                 MR. BARSKY: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARSKY: Okay, thanks.

         13  I just wanted to be  clear.

         14                 MR. BARSKY: Sure.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: At this moment it

         17  is my understanding that two of our members need to

         18  participate in another meeting and they would like

         19  the opportunity to vote on this, on SLR 17.

         20                 Councilman Lasher.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LASHER: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: And Council

         23  Member Mary Pinkett.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LASHER: I would like

         25  to vote yes on this, on SLR 17. What has happened
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          2  traditionally in the past is that much of the

          3  funding that should have gone back to the employees

          4  were taken away and hopefully the variable

          5  supplement legislation will add to their ability to

          6  provide for their members in a better way, and allow

          7  them to be more able to receive greater amounts of

          8  funds that fall within the ballpark within the

          9  numbers and percentages that this legislation has.

         10                 I therefore vote yes on this

         11  legislation and all of the pieces of legislation

         12  coming before the Committee.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you.

         15                 Ms. Pinkett.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Thank you,

         17  Mr. Chairman, for your consideration at this time.

         18                 I, too, would like to vote on --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LASHER: Just for the

         20  record, it was SLR 17 and all of the other items on

         21  the agenda today, yes on all.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Thank you,

         23  Mr. Chairman, for extending this courtesy.

         24                 I, too, would like to vote on SLR 17

         25  and all other items. I also feel that it is
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          2  important to do so in recognition of the fact that

          3  with Correction officers they lost a lot when parity

          4  was broken with the Correction officers and police

          5  officers, and there has been no attempt to make the

          6  restitutions, to make them whole, to bring back the

          7  dollars that were never returned to them over the

          8  years.

          9                 While it is true that there may be

         10  problems with this situation in terms of the

         11  monetary situation, I am willing to believe that the

         12  City and the construction of the Pension Board is

         13  such that the City's  representatives, the union

         14  representatives, the Comptroller's representatives

         15  will indeed seek to make sure that will not happen,

         16  and as long as the market works as it has for the

         17  City so that we are planning so very well, in order

         18  to protect the interest of the City which depends on

         19  this market, I see no reason that we cannot make

         20  sure that City servants, the public benefits from

         21  their service that they too cannot benefit from this

         22  market as well, so I vote aye.

         23                 MR. BARSKY: Yes, the only other

         24  comment I would make is I would disagree that this

         25  money was taken away from them at any time in the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            12

          1  COMMITTEE ON STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION

          2  past, as well as the fact that the City that bears

          3  the risk for the markets return or lack thereof, and

          4  we are always obligated for the contributions and to

          5  have the City continue to assume some risk without

          6  being able to use the returns to protect the

          7  taxpayers and protect the fund, I believe would be

          8  fiscally irresponsible and could be disastrous to

          9  the system over the long-term. So, I would once

         10  again urge for the health of the system for the long

         11  term and our taxpayers that we -- I urge you to

         12  oppose this legislation and please do not vote it

         13  out.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: If I may, Mr.

         15  Chairman, say one thing.

         16                 I believe that more Corrections

         17  officers live in the City and hence that makes them

         18  part of the taxpaying base of this City, so they,

         19  too, pay for their pensions within the City and they

         20  also help  the growth and the prosperity of the

         21  City.

         22                 Secondly, I would say this, that in

         23  terms of the City and the pension system, I want you

         24  to keep doing what you have been doing as a person

         25  who looks forward to gathering their pension from
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          2  your wise investments. I don't want you to take my

          3  money and invest it in anything that will not

          4  benefit the people of the City, including those of

          5  us who have worked hard for the City.

          6                 So, I again make sure that I want to

          7  say aye.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you, Mrs.

         10  Pinkett.

         11                 Mr. Andrew Dowling, would you care to

         12  make a statement?

         13                 MR. DOWLING: Basically I think some

         14  of the Council members have touched on some of the

         15  issues that Mr. Hanley, the Labor Commissioner,

         16  needs to address, and I fully support what

         17  Commissioner Barsky has talked about, we should

         18  oppose this bill.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you.

         20                 At this moment we would like to call

         21  in Commissioner Hanley.

         22                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: Good afternoon,

         23  my name is James Hanley, I am the Commissioner of

         24  Labor Relations for the City of New York. I am a

         25  City resident. I was born in New York, I will die in
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          2  New York, and I have been negotiating the Correction

          3  Officers' contract for about 27 years now.

          4                 If we are interested, parity was

          5  never broken with Correction officers, I would be

          6  more than happy to do that. But we have never broken

          7  the parity relationship. The parity relationship

          8  with all of our uniformed forces, which goes back to

          9  1898, I have some familiarity with it, is hooked

         10  into the basic maximum salary of these employees.

         11  The basic maximum salary for a Correction officer

         12  and a police officer and a firefighter remains the

         13  same. The benefits that they receive have never been

         14  identical. In some cases they are better for

         15  Correction officers and in some cases they are

         16  better for police or fire.

         17                 For whatever it is worth, you raised

         18  some questions, Mr. DiBrienza, on the history of the

         19  variable supplement funds. The variable supplement

         20  funds were achieved in the old fashioned way,

         21  collective bargaining.

         22                 In 1968 it was the subject of a

         23  dispute that was referred to the former Supreme

         24  Court Justice Arthur Goldberg, and a decision was

         25  rendered that the City was to in fact recommend the
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          2  passage of a variable supplement fund, it laid

          3  dormant for a number of -- for police and fire. It

          4  was a very big issue for police and fire. It laid

          5  pretty much dormant until 1987. In 1987 we changed

          6  that variable supplement fund to a defined benefit

          7  fund, and we did it yet again the old fashioned way,

          8  through collective bargaining. And through the

          9  collective bargaining process there was a quid for a

         10  quo. There was a consideration for a representation,

         11  and for a deal. Those unions gave the City of New

         12  York millions and millions of dollars in return for

         13  a defined benefit, and as far as City funds not

         14  going through the pension system and investments,

         15  not going to individual employees, I would submit to

         16  you that during my period of time, and I am a member

         17  of NYCERS, during my period of time working for the

         18  City of New York there have been times when the

         19  stock market has gone down, but the City paid its

         20  contribution through the pension system; when it

         21  went up, we continued to pay off our portion to the

         22  system. So, I think it is important to focus on

         23  reality, as opposed to perception. The variable

         24  supplement fund for police officers, I was the

         25  bargaining agent, the City of New York is not the
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          2  employer for Transit Police, I was the bargaining

          3  agent on behalf of the Transit Authority for the

          4  Transit Police contracts from the mid-seventies

          5  until the day that they were merged, and then during

          6  that period of time, the Transit Authority in fact

          7  supported legislation to establish the variable

          8  supplement fund with the Transit Police through the

          9  bargaining process, the bargaining process. They

         10  enhanced those funds in the 1990/'91 round of

         11  bargaining by taking monies that otherwise would

         12  have been paid into salary or other emoluments and

         13  putting that into the variable supplement fund,

         14  their own money, again through the collective

         15  bargaining process, and if we are interested in

         16  history and reality, in this last round of

         17  bargaining the Correction Officers, et al., asked

         18  for this particular benefit through the collective

         19  bargaining process and we didn't say no because it

         20  is an anomaly, it is not a pension benefit, although

         21  it appears in the pension law, and we said we would

         22  be happy to do that. We would be happy to do that,

         23  but you are going to have to pay for it like others

         24  did in the bargaining process, and there was a

         25  decision made not to do that, but rather to
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          2  circumvent the bargaining process and to submit here

          3  a bill to get it outside of the bargaining process

          4  so they wouldn't have to pay for the benefit, like

          5  police did, like fire did, like others did, Transit

          6  Police and Housing Police.

          7                 So, that circumvention of the

          8  bargaining process is something that I guess we all

          9  are pretty quick to ignore, but to me at least I am

         10  compelled to negotiate on issues that must be

         11  bargained on by law, it would seem to me that there

         12  should be some level of fairness and an even

         13  standard that should apply to everybody. When we

         14  bring issues to the bargaining table, we resolve

         15  them one way or another. We don't get what we want

         16  necessarily, but we do bring it to the bargaining

         17  process -- to the bargaining table. And as somebody

         18  who is committed to the bargaining process, I must

         19  say it is offensive to do business this way around

         20  the bargaining process. Sometimes it is good, they

         21  will do it, sometimes they won't.

         22                 So, it is $100 million, that is a

         23  pretty heavy number, it would seem to me, but in

         24  addition to that, this circumvention of the

         25  bargaining process is terribly disturbing.
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          2                 Thank you. And for those reasons I

          3  would oppose the bill, and urge your opposition.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Council Member

          5  DiBrienza.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Just the

          7  one piece of history. For the Transit Police when

          8  they were separate, and the Housing Police when they

          9  were separate, didn't they sort of gain this

         10  benefit, even though their methodology is now

         11  subsequently changed, through legislation?

         12                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: Ultimately

         13  legislation was required for all of these bills.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: I meant as

         15  opposed to the bargaining process where they -- in

         16  other words, they go this variable supp bill under

         17  whatever methodology passed, and then eventually in

         18  subsequent years in negotiations when they wanted to

         19  switch it or you guys wanted to -- the City wanted

         20  to a defined benefit, did that through bargaining?

         21                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: There is a step

         22  in between. Their fund was established right after

         23  the stock market had a little, quite a crash

         24  actually, so it had nothing in it, all right?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: I see.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: So, in order to

          3  beef up that system, they took money out of the

          4  collective bargaining process in the 1991 settlement

          5  and paid that into the variable supplement fund out

          6  of their own wage settlement, if you would.

          7                 But in answer to your question, when

          8  it was first established, the Transit Authority, and

          9  again, I was the bargaining agent, I received a

         10  letter of authorization as their bargaining agent

         11  for a number of years, the bargaining agent, the

         12  employer, the Transit Authority in fact did support

         13  the legislation up in Albany --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Right.

         15                 COMMISSIONER HANELY: And it was

         16  established, it really had no value at the time.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Right. The

         18  reason I am checking and clarifying a little bit is,

         19  you know, at the moment the cost factors may be

         20  different, because of relative terms in the market,

         21  the idea that other methodologies have now since

         22  been negotiated to become defined benefits, versus

         23  this old fashioned, older version --

         24                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: Sure.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA:-- Are all
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          2  true, but it doesn't mean that there has never been

          3  cases where through, once the statewide legislative

          4  body, the both houses and/or the Governor, whoever

          5  it is at the time, is convinced of the value of the

          6  merits, that these kind of benefits don't occur

          7  through legislation, this wouldn't be the only time

          8  this ever happened, whether any of it is good, bad

          9  or indifferent aside, and in fact two similar things

         10  happened, they may have been worth more or less at

         11  the time, and they may have all subsequently been

         12  changed, but if this were to pass, and if eventually

         13  it were to pass in Albany and if it were to become

         14  the law, sometime down the road in this bargaining

         15  session or the next or the next or the next or the

         16  next, the City of New York, and whoever's form it

         17  is, could be saying to this group, we would like to

         18  switch it, you know, to a defined benefit, we would

         19  like this to happen and that to happen under the

         20  purview of negotiations, correct?

         21                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: It could, or I

         22  guess they could introduce another bill in this

         23  body.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: They could,

         25  but that is not how it -- the model so far has been
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          2  that when it switches to this defined benefit there

          3  has been this kind of negotiated --

          4                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: I have testified

          5  in front of you and supported those bills.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Right.

          7                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: When they were

          8  done as a result of bargaining, yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Right. So,

         10  all I am saying is it is not 100 percent unique and

         11  100 percent different than things that have been

         12  done before, while it may cost more or less because

         13  of the times we are in. I just wanted to be clear,

         14  that is not exactly like a completely brand new

         15  event that is going on here, if in fact we are

         16  supportive and if in fact it gets to pass both

         17  houses of Albany, plus the Governor, it has been

         18  done, again, at different times in our history

         19  before.

         20                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: It has been

         21  done.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: That is the

         23  only point I wanted to make.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 Thanks, Mr. Chairman.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Commissioner, you

          3  sounded very strong in your statement on page number

          4  two, you touch on during the last round of

          5  negotiations; could you please share with us when

          6  those negotiations took place?

          7                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: I don't know the

          8  exact dates but --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: And number two --

         10                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: Sorry.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: If I may,

         12  Commissioner, you stated that they were unwilling to

         13  pay for this benefit, and you further went on to

         14  state that it will also be an insult to other

         15  unions; who are they? Who have bargained over these

         16  benefits? Did they get it? If they did, are they

         17  paying for it? Who are the other unions?

         18                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: The only other

         19  unions that have this benefit, what is now the

         20  defined benefit, yes, in fact, that defined benefit

         21  they did pay for. There are other unions that bring

         22  this issue up in the bargaining process. We said if

         23  you pay for it, then we will be happy to support

         24  that legislation, assuming there is a meeting of the

         25  minds, and there never was a meeting of the minds
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          2  and those bills aren't here today.

          3                 But those unions in particular, the

          4  five police unions, and the -- there is actually

          5  more, but the fire unions, because there is marine

          6  engineers and there is --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Would you believe

          8  that these are uniformed services who on a daily

          9  basis put their life on the line?

         10                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: They are

         11  absolutely uniformed forces and they perform a

         12  valuable service in the City of New York.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Well, how about

         14  Correction Officers, don't they put their life on

         15  the line every day that they go to work?

         16                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: Yes. Yes. That

         17  doesn't denigrate or demean their job in any way.

         18  Not at all. Nor does it the police officers or

         19  firefighters or anybody else. They perform a

         20  valuable service to the citizens of New York, no

         21  question about it. I was addressing the bargaining

         22  process more than anything else.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Mr. Chairman?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Yes. Welcome to

         25  the Committee.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: The fiscal

          3  impact statement we have says, from Central staff,

          4  says $75 million, yet, Commissioner, you just

          5  testified that the price tag on this legislation is

          6  $100 million; can we discuss the disparity?

          7                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: Sure. The expert

          8  on that would be Mr. North, who is the expert of the

          9  system, it is my understanding he will be testifying

         10  next.

         11                 I had heard the number of $100

         12  million, I don't know what his testimony is going to

         13  be. He is certainly in a better position than I am.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Council Member

         16  Stabile.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: I am a

         18  Republican conservative. I will start off saying

         19  that, okay? But I believe, in all honesty, coming

         20  from Civil Service, that we don't give enough to

         21  uniformed services in this City.

         22                 I was fortunate to go to an affair

         23  Friday night for Correction Officer Quinn, who I

         24  believe now is driving, or is doing something for

         25  one of the chiefs in the Department.
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          2                 I walk around the room, I listen to

          3  civil servants who have given 17, 20, 22 years in

          4  the City and are scared.

          5                 They are scared because they are

          6  saying, well, if I am going to retire in 25 years,

          7  what am I going to do, how am I going to support my

          8  daughter, how am I going to keep funds going, what

          9  am I going to do?

         10                 And coming from Sanitation I will

         11  tell you that the civil servants of this City are

         12  constantly, constantly, well, maybe I shouldn't say

         13  it on TV, so I won't say it, by all the

         14  Administrations for many years, it's about time

         15  someone wakes up and says that the men and women who

         16  serve in the Department of Corrections, of all

         17  departments, who are prisoners for 20 and 25 years,

         18  living as prisoners, dealing with the most derelict

         19  of society and putting up with this every day, day

         20  after day, deserve everything this Council can give

         21  them to make it work.

         22                 Thank you very much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you, Mr.

         24  Stabile.

         25                 Can we get both actuary, both present
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          2  and former?

          3                 MR. SCHWARTZ: Hi. I am Jonathan

          4  Schwartz. I was the Assistant Chief Actuary of this

          5  City between 1967 and 1973. I was the Chief Actuary

          6  between 1973 and 1986. Since then I have been

          7  serving as a consultant to a number of the City

          8  employee representatives, including the Correction

          9  Officers, the Correction Captains and the Assistant

         10  Deputy Wardens.

         11                 MR. NORTH: I am Robert North, I am

         12  the Chief Actuary for the New York City Retirement

         13  Systems.

         14                 Would you like me to begin, Mr.

         15  Chairman?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Yes.

         17                 MR. NORTH: There have been a lot of

         18  discussions about what the cost of this bill would

         19  be. I think it is important to understand that

         20  ultimately the cost of any plan is the benefits it

         21  pays. What makes this a rather unusual bill is that

         22  the benefits that ultimately would be paid are

         23  dependent on the amount of money that would move

         24  from NYCERS to the variable supplements funds. And

         25  let me clarify, this bill provides for two such
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          2  funds, one for the Correction' Officers, one for the

          3  Correction's Captains and above. In total, all

          4  uniformed Correction members would be covered.

          5                 The transfer of money from NYCERS to

          6  the variable supplements fund is referred to a Skim

          7  (phonetic), the term is used in the Council's own

          8  documentation, and it is calculated as the excess

          9  earnings on equity securities over a hypothetical

         10  interest rate which is a yield on bonds.

         11                 A lot of questions arise as to what

         12  this will ultimately cost because in advance we do

         13  not know whether or not equities will outperform

         14  bonds, they are expected to.

         15                 In our fiscal note prepared by the

         16  Office of the Actuary, we have indicated that there

         17  are a couple of ways you can measure the estimated

         18  cost. One of those ways is to estimate that the

         19  assets do not grow in NYCERS, the assets of the June

         20  30, 1998 were $37.6 billion. Approximately 70

         21  percent of those assets were in equities.

         22                 If over time an average of 2.2

         23  percent represents the excess of equity returns over

         24  the hypothetical interest rate, which is a

         25  reasonable estimate, then we would expect that as of
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          2  6/30/98 the present value of such Skim would be $620

          3  million, i.e., the present value today of all future

          4  expected Skim. If the assets of NYCERS grow at a

          5  rate of four percent a year into perpetuity, the

          6  estimated Skim would be close to $1.18 billion.

          7                 Now, ultimately the cost is this

          8  total, there is then a question of financing, when

          9  do you pay for it?

         10                 Under current methodology, if still

         11  in place, every year in which you have a skim, there

         12  would be an actuarial loss due to reduction in

         13  assets in the fund, and the contribution the

         14  following year would increase to NYCERS by about 10

         15  percent of whatever that transfer of assets was.

         16                 That is under current methodology.

         17                 As noted in my fiscal note, it is

         18  important to understand that if you delay the

         19  amortization and the payment of this to after the

         20  event, then in a sense you are violating the

         21  intergenerational equity principle that ideally cost

         22  should be paid over the working lifetimes of the

         23  members during the period in which they serve.

         24                 Consequently, if this bill were to be

         25  enacted, or if it is likely that any similar bill is
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          2  to be enacted, in my capacity as the Chief Actuary

          3  to the New York City Employees Retirement System, I

          4  would recommend to them, to the legislature, and to

          5  you, that methodology be changed, such that the

          6  actuary could take into account the present value of

          7  all future Skim in valuing the liabilities of

          8  NYCERS, in such event if, for example, we assume

          9  that $1.18 billion is the present value future Skim,

         10  and such change and methodology were implemented as

         11  of the June 30, 1999 valuation date, this

         12  legislative session, and if this legislation passed,

         13  the actuary would recommend that for Fiscal Year

         14  2000 the contribution's increased approximately $120

         15  million.

         16                 As I mentioned earlier, one of the

         17  things about the cost here is the variability. We

         18  don't know in advance in which year there would be a

         19  cost, but to illustrate something which I think

         20  should be looked at really as an issue of

         21  variability, not absolute amounts, as you know we

         22  have been on a pretty good run in the stock market.

         23  If this bill had been enacted, to be effective

         24  Fiscal 1995, during the last four fiscal years under

         25  this legislation, NYCERS would have transferred to
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          2  these two proposals variable supplements funds $1.16

          3  billion, and even under current methodology the

          4  contribution to NYCERS would be up about $120

          5  million a year by FY 1999.

          6                 Plus, I would just like to point out

          7  again, ultimately the cost of this legislation

          8  depends on the amount of money to be moved, the

          9  exact timing of which cannot be predetermined, but

         10  in terms of proper funding of the retirement system,

         11  the actuary would urge that the methodology employed

         12  reflect the potential, not the actual individual

         13  years, but the potential skim, and that such, when

         14  put through the actuarial mathematics would result

         15  in a likely contribution increase upon the order of

         16  at least $100 million a year.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 MR. SCHWARTZ: Okay, now for the

         19  spirit of actuary past.

         20                 If the Chief Actuary of the

         21  Retirement Systems, in this case Mr. North, operated

         22  in an environment that were free of outside

         23  constraints, I have no doubt that the change that he

         24  just alluded to would indeed come about.

         25                 However, my predecessor Jessie Feld,
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          2  operated under constraints, I operated under

          3  constraints, and based on my observation of Mr.

          4  North's tenure for the past nine years, Mr. North

          5  operates under constraints also.

          6                 What is about to happen, and in fact

          7  the initial shots have already been fired in the

          8  battle I am about to describe, Mr. North has begun

          9  the process of overhauling the methods and

         10  assumptions used by his office to determine the City

         11  contributions to the retirement systems. This review

         12  happens every five years.

         13                 In the financial plan that was

         14  released this past Thursday, the City had one

         15  explicit assumption, one implicit assumption. The

         16  explicit assumption was that the contributions to

         17  the pension funds of Fiscal 2000 would be based on

         18  the present assumptions and methods.

         19                 It also implicitly said that

         20  beginning with Fiscal 2001, the contributions,

         21  rather than being based on the present interest

         22  assumption of eight and --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Mr. Schwartz,

         24  just for the record, can you share with us in what

         25  capacity you are here today?
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          2                 MR. SCHWARTZ: I am here as a

          3  consultant to the three correction unions whom I

          4  mentioned earlier, to the Correction Officers

          5  Benevolent Association, the Correction Captains

          6  Association and the Assistant Deputy Wardens.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you.

          8                 You can go on.

          9                 MR. SCHWARTZ: I am a hired gun.

         10                 But anyway, I have every reason to

         11  believe that Mr. North does not agree with either of

         12  the two assumptions in the Financial Plan that I

         13  just referred to, that the Fiscal 2000 contribution

         14  was based on exactly the same methods and

         15  assumptions presently being used, and that the

         16  contributions of Fiscal 2001 and later will be based

         17  on an interest assumption of eight and a half

         18  percent.

         19                 What I expect to happen over the next

         20  nine months to a year, is as more and more actuarial

         21  data becomes available, there will be a set of

         22  ongoing negotiations among Mr. North, the City and

         23  the Employee Representative Trustees of the

         24  Retirement Systems.

         25                 Ultimately, a compromise will be
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          2  arrived at. Mr. North will not get all of the

          3  changes that he wants, the City will not get the

          4  precise bottom line that it wants, the Employee

          5  Representatives will not get quite as much money

          6  freed up for bargaining purposes as they want, but,

          7  you know, an accommodation will eventually be

          8  arrived at.

          9                 Again, there are many things that I

         10  know Mr. North would like to do by way of

         11  strengthening the assumptions presently being used

         12  to determine employee contributions to the pension

         13  funds.  He will get some of them, he won't get all

         14  of them.

         15                 In my judgment, this particular

         16  change relating to pre-funding of variable

         17  supplements funds is something that he will feel

         18  constrained to throw overboard because of the fact

         19  if he doesn't throw it overboard, other, more

         20  significant items that he regards as more important

         21  will then be thrown overboard.

         22                 So, therefore, it is my position

         23  that, though as distasteful the present methodology

         24  may be to him, that after the smoke clears the

         25  present methodology will remain in place and
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          2  therefore the numbers that I quoted in the fiscal

          3  note will essentially be operative.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: And

          5  therefore it might cost --

          6                 MR. SCHWARTZ: And therefore -- well,

          7  let's put it this way: If the present methodology

          8  remains in place, there will be no cost in Fiscal

          9  2000, and I would expect the Fiscal 2001 cost to be

         10  in the neighborhood of $6 million.

         11                 Again, my crystal ball is out being

         12  cleaned, I have no idea what the market will do in

         13  Fiscal 2000, but assuming that stocks outperform

         14  bonds at the two and a half percent level that Mr.

         15  North mentioned, that is what I would expect.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         17                 Mr. Chairman, with great apologies

         18  for missing the opportunity a few moments ago, if I

         19  could record my vote, that last call actually was

         20  important enough to cause me to have to run. I

         21  thought this appointment could be postponed.

         22                 Could I record my vote, please?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Having

         25  heard both the opposition and now some of the
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          2  financial, or testimony outlining cost factors and

          3  realizing that this has been done before and that

          4  eventually it would take votes of not only the

          5  Council but both houses of the legislation and the

          6  Governor, I vote aye.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you.

          8                 Is there any further questions?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Mr. Chairman?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Mr. Oddo.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Yes, I have a

         12  copy of a letter that Mr. North sent to the Finance

         13  Division in which he raised various issues. I would

         14  ask that if Mr. North has the time, if he could

         15  raise some of the concerns to the Committee now so

         16  we could sort of flush this out?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Yes.

         18                 MR. NORTH: Okay. I think the primary

         19  purpose of the fiscal note is to point out that this

         20  is a potentially very expensive bill relative to the

         21  fiscal note that is attached to the piece of

         22  legislation, there are, however, as you may have

         23  noted, some technical questions that have arisen, in

         24  terms of plan design that are just slightly

         25  different than the existing variable supplements
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          2  funds for Police and Fire.

          3                 For example, the definition of

          4  beneficiary is somewhat different as to who would

          5  become eligible to receive benefits.

          6                 There are some questions on

          7  administrative cost and who would administer it.

          8                 The NYCERS staff apparently is to

          9  administer the Correction Officers VSF, but no

         10  provision is made to reimburse the NYCERS fund for

         11  those costs. While simultaneously there appears to

         12  be no reference to who is supposed to administer the

         13  Correction Captains and above VSF.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: These de minimis

         15  issues, are these issues that, in your mind go to

         16  the viability of the bill, are these technical

         17  issues that can be addressed at a later time? Or how

         18  fatal in your opinion are these issues to the bill?

         19                 MR. NORTH: I would have to argue that

         20  for the most part these are more in the technical

         21  area. Ideally the bill would have been drafted more

         22  precisely. They are not at the level that I would

         23  consider some of the bills I have seen which are

         24  clearly unadministratable. I think certain

         25  assumptions could be made about intent allowing it
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          2  to be administered.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Mr. Schwartz, do

          5  you have an additional comment to make?

          6                 MR. SCHWARTZ: Not unless Mr. North is

          7  going to say something else. At the moment, none.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: If there are no

          9  further questions, we would like to call up the

         10  union at this moment.

         11                 MR. NORTH: If I might, Mr. Chairman,

         12  just in response to some of the comments made by Mr.

         13  Schwartz?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Feel free.

         15                 MR. NORTH: He is correct that going

         16  forward this year is a full review of actuarial

         17  assumptions and methods for the New York City

         18  Retirement Systems.

         19                 I certainly would like to

         20  characterize the process in which the actuary gives

         21  his best judgment to the Boards of Trustees,

         22  something a little bit differently than the

         23  negotiation process amongst multiple parties, the

         24  actuary for the Retirement Systems gives his best

         25  judgment to the parties trying to find a fair
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          2  balance between the demands of the taxpayers and the

          3  needs of the City and the proper long-term funding

          4  of the retirement system, and although Mr. Schwartz

          5  questions whether or not I would propose such a

          6  change in funding to recognize the true long-term

          7  costs of such a bill, I can assure you that I will

          8  give every consideration, and absent some

          9  extraordinary problem, I will in fact look to

         10  recommend changes that will cost $100 million if

         11  this bill is enacted. Because I believe that is the

         12  proper long-term way to fund this bill.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 Can we have the representative, Mr.

         17  Seabrue (phonetic).

         18                 MR. SEABRUE: (Not identified for the

         19  record.

         20                 Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman, ladies

         21  and gentlemen of the Committee. I would first like

         22  to publicly thank those Council Members who are not

         23  present right now who took the courage to vote and

         24  to assist the Correction Officers in making them a

         25  part of a uniformed family in the City of New York.
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          2  I would like to thank all of the members of the

          3  Council in advance, no matter which way you decide

          4  to vote on this matter, for your cooperation in

          5  allowing us to sit before you and express our

          6  concerns of making Correction Officers in the City

          7  of New York part of a uniformed family.

          8                 I just would like to say that I have

          9  heard testimony from the City of New York, I have

         10  heard testimony from specifically Mr. Hanley, I have

         11  heard testimony from Mr. North, and I happen to

         12  disagree with some of the things that they were

         13  saying.

         14                 It is very easy for someone to sit

         15  before you and say you can come in and bargain in

         16  collective bargaining for issues, but once you get

         17  behind the door of collective bargaining, it then

         18  becomes another issue of no, it's not bargainable,

         19  now you have to go to legislation.

         20                 We are only trying to do what should

         21  have been done many, many years ago in keeping

         22  Correction Officers as a uniformed force, part of

         23  the uniformed family that protects the public 24

         24  hours a day and seven days a week.

         25                 Correction Officers are the
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          2  stepchildren of law enforcement, or used to be until

          3  finally this Council, and other members of this

          4  City, stood up and said no more will they be treated

          5  as second class citizens to any organization that

          6  protects the men and women of the City of New York.

          7                 For Mr. North to say that he will

          8  seek to change the parameters, if you will, in

          9  making this cost of $100 million, I find that very

         10  insulting that he did not take the opportunity to

         11  change the parameters when it only involved the

         12  Police Department or the Fire Department, and now

         13  since he sees that the Correction Officers in the

         14  City of New York want only what is equal treatment

         15  to us all, now all of a sudden you take away the

         16  gold post and you move it now simply because there

         17  is another team that wants the same opportunity as

         18  everyone else. That I find insulting, and on behalf

         19  of my members of the Correction Officers Benevolent

         20  Association, I just would like to say I understand

         21  because it is business with certain people.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Besides feeling

         23  insulted, why do you think that is?

         24                 MR. SEABRUE: I think that for the

         25  most part, when you look at the make-up of the
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          2  Correction Department, the agency itself, and I

          3  don't mean to point fingers at individuals, but the

          4  Correction Department is mostly a minority

          5  organization, it is a minority organization made up

          6  of more than 70 percent African-American and

          7  Hispanic.

          8                 I remember listening to some

          9  individuals discuss all types of issues in the City

         10  of New York, no one every mentions the Correction

         11  Department to become police officers. We will

         12  mention traffic, but we won't talk about Correction

         13  Officers who are peace officers in the City of New

         14  York. We will look at keeping Correction Officers

         15  silent on that rock over there in East Elmhurst

         16  which is called Rikers Island, out of sight, out of

         17  mind, but the public doesn't understand that the job

         18  we perform 24 hours, seven days a week, where over

         19  76 percent of us live within the five boroughs of

         20  the City of the New York and we do a very, very

         21  tough job, and it is because of people like you, Mr.

         22  Chairman, that stand up and say, you know what? They

         23  have to be treated fairly, they have to be treated

         24  with the same equitable treatment as everyone else.

         25                 I am not trying to bankrupt the City
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          2  of New York. I am just trying to get the same share

          3  that everybody else has been enjoying for many, many

          4  years, and I think it is only fair that the

          5  Correction Officers receive that benefit.

          6                 I think that it is important that

          7  people understand that the Correction Department and

          8  the Correction Officers Benevolent Association,

          9  along with the Correction Captains Association and

         10  Assistant Deputy Wardens, have never, never, until

         11  this Council decided that, yes, they deserve a Hart

         12  Bill (phonetic), yes, they deserve a three-quarter

         13  bill, just like the other law enforcement

         14  organizations, just like the police officers, just

         15  like the firefighters who are peace officers, and

         16  just like Correction Officers who are also peace

         17  officers. So, until we are made whole and until we

         18  are made a part of, and when Mr. Hanley says

         19  "parity", yes, we have parity, so if we have

         20  parity, then make us equal all the way across the

         21  board. If he says that the Police Department paid

         22  for it, then how do we still have parity if they

         23  paid for it? Surely we should be ahead of them by

         24  now, if they had to pay something for this benefit.

         25  But, no, they are not telling you all the facts
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          2  involved in this. This was done legislation-wise for

          3  the Transit Authority Police Officers, and this is

          4  being done now that we have to do it

          5  legislation-wise in the City of New York because the

          6  City of New York does not want to recognize

          7  Correction Officers as an equal partner in this

          8  City.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 MR. MARINGOLO: Thank you. First of

         11  all, I would like to thank you for the opportunity

         12  to testify. My name is Peter Maringolo. I am the

         13  President of Correction Captains Association.

         14                 And I am going to go a different way.

         15  I totally agree with Norman, but I want to give you

         16  something different to look at. I heard Mr. Hanley

         17  talk about history. Well, I can give you some

         18  history, I go back to 1972. I have been a Correction

         19  Officer since 1972. I have been the President of the

         20  Captains Union for the last nine years, I have been

         21  a Captain for 18 of my 27 years in this Department,

         22  and I remember when I first came on the job I was a

         23  young Correction Officer, looking to make the most

         24  money I could for my family, and I remember very

         25  distinctly that there was a category of people, and
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          2  I remember that Correction and Police and Fire were

          3  classified as emergency service, I remember that

          4  very well. And I will state here I have the utmost

          5  respect and love for the Police and Fire, but I have

          6  always wanted to be a Correction Officer, I am very

          7  proud to be one. I am not somebody that wanted to be

          8  a cop.

          9                 Having said that, I remember

         10  somewhere in the middle of the night, in 1972. Late

         11  72 or beginning '73, they passed legislation and

         12  they changed the status of Correctional Officers,

         13  thereby making us essential services, not emergency.

         14                 Now, to some people that may not be

         15  important, but I believe way back then in 1972 was

         16  what changed the life or the career path or the

         17  financial security of Correctional Officers in this

         18  City, because everything that went on from there was

         19  for police and fire, including a pension.

         20                 I can talk about that, I am a lot

         21  older than Norman. I respect what Norman has done

         22  for the Correction Officers, as I said, I have been

         23  around 27 years, and it is interesting when I hear

         24  Mr. Hanley speak and he talks about circumventing

         25  the bargaining process.
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          2                 I think I can give you some insight

          3  on that as well. Not when Norman was running the

          4  Correction Officers Union, under different

          5  leadership, and Commissioner Hanley got very

          6  offended last time because he thought I was talking

          7  about him. Let me be clear on the record: Jim Hanley

          8  was not in charge of collective bargaining when what

          9  I am about to tell you happened. But they allowed

         10  the Correction Officers to bargain a pension, and

         11  this is what we are talking about when we are

         12  talking about collective bargaining process, and

         13  that process that they allowed the Correction

         14  Officers to do, thereby caused the Correction

         15  Officers, the Captains and above, a much higher cost

         16  for their pension, something that Norman and I and

         17  Sydney Schwarzbaum (phonetic) have been trying for

         18  years at the collective bargaining table to correct.

         19                 So, I find it very unfair when they

         20  come here and tell you come to the table with your

         21  agenda - we come to the table and we are treated

         22  differently. Norman is absolutely correct, we are

         23  treated differently.

         24                 We come to the table willing to make

         25  offers, and they want to, pardon the expression, but
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          2  pick our pockets.

          3                 And if you looked at the pension

          4  reform that this Council was gracious enough to help

          5  do a reform, I clearly don't blame anybody, but you

          6  helped us do the reform that made it tolerable. We

          7  are still trying to correct that. And every time I

          8  go to Albany to correct that, they come and they

          9  testify the same way.

         10                 As far as our members, we deserve to

         11  have the Hart Bill that you granted us a home rule

         12  message on and it further went on to Albany, and

         13  obviously a lot of other people agreed with you.

         14                 And we deserve to have the

         15  three-quarter disability. I would challenge anybody

         16  to walk a mile in the shoes of a Correction Officer.

         17  But as Norman says the stepchildren, and I also say

         18  the out-of-sight, out-of-mind people, nobody really

         19  cares about the Correction Officers in this City,

         20  and we have done a tremendous job, and what we come

         21  here for is not to pick anybody's pocket, but just

         22  asking for equity.

         23                 And lastly I would like to comment

         24  that, I have had meetings with Mr. Norton, and I

         25  hear what he says about changing things going
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          2  forward. I believe if he was to talk on my pension,

          3  the same actuary, that would tell you that was a

          4  terrible thing that we did at the collective

          5  bargaining table. He may not say that, I believe he

          6  would if he wanted to tell the facts the way they

          7  were.

          8                 I sit before him and I show him what

          9  happened to the men and women in this Department in

         10  providing the future for their families, and he

         11  says, yes, it shouldn't have happened. But quite

         12  honestly, having been in this Department 27 years, I

         13  get a little tired here when people say, wow, what a

         14  dangerous job you perform, I wouldn't want to do

         15  your job for all the tea in China. But you know

         16  what? We need to put that back in our members'

         17  pockets, back in our families where we can support

         18  them. And I think if you look at the job that we do,

         19  along the same level as a police officer and a

         20  firefighter, I think we are right up there, and in

         21  my own opinion, we are above that.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you, Pete.

         24                 One quick question.

         25                 Either you or Norman can answer it.
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          2                 Do you recall that during the

          3  statement by Mr. Hanley, he said that during the

          4  last negotiation, that the union was unwilling to

          5  pay for this benefit; would you like to respond to

          6  that?

          7                 MR. MARINGOLO: Yes, I will respond to

          8  that. Why should we have to pay for a benefit that

          9  others before us did not have to pay for? We are

         10  asking for equity. And quite honestly, in my own

         11  experience, and when I have to pay for a benefit,

         12  they want $150 on a dollar, so I don't know that

         13  that is fair bargaining when they want me to pay for

         14  something and they put their own numbers in there

         15  and our numbers end up paying more. And what we are

         16  asking for is the right to use our own money, just

         17  as the Police and Fire did.

         18                 MR. SEABRUE: Let me also say that Mr.

         19  Hanley sat here and he said that Correction Officers

         20  have some benefits that the police officers don't

         21  have. Let me outline some of the benefits to you

         22  that we have that they don't have.

         23                 We work in a closed environment with

         24  some of the most dangerous individuals in society,

         25  24 hours a day, seven days a week, with no weapons.
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          2  Some of the individuals that are housed there are

          3  infected with hepatitis, AIDS, tuberculosis, we

          4  don't even have ventilation for air to breathe.

          5                 The Correction Officers then leave

          6  there, go home and hopefully not infect their family

          7  with the same diseases that we come across, but

          8  those are some of the benefits that we have.

          9                 We also have a benefit that is called

         10  the "mess hall", where we have some of the most

         11  violent individuals awaiting sentencing for murder,

         12  arson, rape, child molestation, preparing our food

         13  for us and serving us our food. These are the same

         14  individuals that we write infractions on on a daily

         15  basis who are perhaps infected with some of the most

         16  deadliest viruses known to man and woman, and these

         17  are the benefits that we have.

         18                 We also have another benefit, it is

         19  called being stuck on overtime where you stay at a

         20  post for 16 hours and deal with some of the most

         21  violent individuals in society, that is also a

         22  benefit.

         23                 We also have another benefit, it is

         24  called having to go across the Rikers Island bridge

         25  where your stress level rises by 100 percent and
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          2  deal inside of a jail system when it is 95 degrees

          3  outside, it is 125 degrees inside, with 60 different

          4  personalities, one Correction Officer, no weapon, no

          5  protection and that is a benefit.

          6                 I think that the Commissioner and

          7  other members of the City of New York really should

          8  look at what benefits are to other agencies and what

          9  benefits are to the Correction Officers.

         10                 Let me give you another example. A

         11  Correction Officer and a Police Officer, a Police

         12  Officer, who I think do a very, very tough job, and

         13  they are under the gun these days, but, you know,

         14  they will prevail, I think what they have to look at

         15  is they get into an air conditioned car, they ride

         16  around a sector in a community, they get a telephone

         17  call or a radio call that there is an incident

         18  occurring, they respond to the area, nine millimeter

         19  weapons or whatever weapons that they have, they

         20  deal with the situation.

         21                 A Correction Officer gets an alarm

         22  that goes off in the mess hall, he runs or she runs

         23  down to the other end of the corridor, gets a baton,

         24  which is made out of wood, it is 36 inches long,

         25  puts on a helmet and a puncture proof vest, runs to
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          2  the affected area where the inmate in the area has

          3  metal shanks, razor blades, and different pieces of

          4  metal that is found and sharpened in the area and

          5  goes hand-to-hand combat with these inmates. I

          6  really don't think they know what they are talking

          7  about when they say that we have benefits.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM: Yes, hello. My name

         10  is Sydney Schwartzbaum, I represent the Assistant

         11  Deputy Wardens and the Deputy Wardens, we are the

         12  highest ranking uniformed union in the Department of

         13  Corrections.

         14                 I have 20 years on this job and I was

         15  proud to be a Correction Officer, I was proud to be

         16  a Captain and I have been an Assistant Deputy Warden

         17  for 11 years.

         18                 During that time, I have seen over

         19  the last three or four, five years, a metamorphosis

         20  of how Correction employees have performed in our

         21  Department - violence is down, the hospital runs are

         22  down, and this is a tremendous savings to the City

         23  of New York. But that credit should be given to the

         24  uniform Correction employees who are in the front

         25  line every day.
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          2                 Before I heard Council members speak

          3  on the tough job we do, it was very heartening for

          4  me to hear that because we have been the

          5  stepchildren throughout the years.

          6                 People don't really realize the

          7  benefit that the Correction employees do. A

          8  tractable prison system and performing at those

          9  levels and stress levels and keeping these

         10  prisoners, these sociopaths in some conformance of

         11  control is a tremendous responsibility, and I have

         12  seen over the years many, many Correction employees

         13  suffer cardiovascular disease as a result of doing

         14  their job. People don't really realize, as you go

         15  over that Rikers Island bridge, your cortisone

         16  levels go up, your adrenaline level goes up, that

         17  goes on for a full eight, 16 hours, and it is not

         18  until years later when these Correction employees

         19  retire, and they have done some statistical analysis

         20  on the longevity of these employees, which is really

         21  much less than a lot of other uniformed employees,

         22  and very rarely do people realize the great job we

         23  do.

         24                 And I want to just echo what Norman

         25  said before regarding some of the diseases, and
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          2  especially hepatitis. It seems to me more and more

          3  of our members are getting this disease now, and I

          4  have somebody very close to me who recently got it

          5  on the job, and it has changed their whole life.

          6  Their energy levels went from an energetic person to

          7  no energy level and it is really a shame, the job,

          8  what some of these diseases have done to people and

          9  it is very heartening to hear that the credit you

         10  Council members have given us, and we really

         11  appreciate it and I would like to thank you for

         12  that.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you. Will

         14  you hold on a second? I would like to call on

         15  Council Member Fisher to cast his vote right now,

         16  and I immediately would like to ask a question.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Fisher.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FISHER: Thank you very

         19  much.

         20                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. As

         21  you know, I have a hearing we are holding out in

         22  Staten Island, so I have got to leave now, but I

         23  wanted to vote aye on all of the items, particularly

         24  this one, since the Brooklyn House of Detention is

         25  in my district. I know what some of the conditions
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          2  are over there. Thank you for what you do for the

          3  City of New York, and thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          4                 MR. MARINGOLO: Thank you, Sir.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Okay, thank you,

          6  Mr. Fisher.

          7                 Very quickly, I would like, based on

          8  a statement that you have made, Norman, I would like

          9  to ask the following question. It is not really

         10  related to what is under discussion today, but

         11  recently we had Commissioner Safir come before us

         12  and he gave to us what seems to be a blueprint for

         13  change for this City, and in it, I don't want to go

         14  into the total plan that he introduced, but in it he

         15  said that there will be opportunities for others in

         16  some kind of uniformed services, like the Traffic

         17  Department to become a member of the Police

         18  Department. And I am just curious, has an

         19  opportunity been given to you guys to drive around,

         20  as you say, in an air conditioned car? Does the

         21  members of the Correction Officers, would they like

         22  to become police officers?

         23                 MR. SEABRUE: To answer your first

         24  question, no. We weren't given the opportunity to be

         25  considered that level.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Will there be a

          3  savings of money if Correction Officers were to --

          4  who already passed through a background check?

          5                 MR. SEABRUE: Yes, sir.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: And other checks?

          7                 MR. SEABRUE: It would be a savings.

          8  It would be quite a savings to the taxpayers of the

          9  City of New York if Correction Officers were

         10  considered the opportunity to become police

         11  officers, it would be a considerable amount of

         12  savings.

         13                 For example, just off the top of my

         14  head, I think if an exam came up to become a police

         15  officer, if the exam came up I think that what could

         16  happen is there would be two lists, the lists would

         17  be one for uniformed members of the Department, in

         18  the City of New York for that matter, and the other

         19  would be for non-uniformed, for civilians, and

         20  priority would be given to those uniformed members

         21  who have already passed a psychological, who have

         22  already passed a background investigation, have

         23  already taken certain courses in the academy, they

         24  would given preference to roll over to the Police

         25  Department, if that is what they wanted to do.
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          2                 I think that that would be a

          3  considerable amount of savings in the City of New

          4  York, and I think that Correction Officers would

          5  probably make for excellent police officers because

          6  of the communication skills that we have already

          7  acquired by working in the most violent system in

          8  the world, the City's jail system.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Council Member

         10  Provenzano.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Two quick

         12  questions.

         13                 Was there ever a test given to

         14  candidates, and let's see, test given to candidates

         15  where a decision would be made as to where they

         16  would go, Police Department or Corrections?

         17                 MR. SEABRUE: Yes, there was an exam

         18  given not long ago where there was one test, and off

         19  the test it was determined whether you would go to

         20  the Police Department or the Correction Department.

         21  Yes, that is correct.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Now, this

         23  test was given to candidates that were newly coming

         24  into whichever?

         25                 MR. SEABRUE: Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: And who

          3  made the decision as to where they would go?

          4                 MR. SEABRUE: I really don't know who

          5  made that decision. I think -- I really don't know.

          6  I don't even want to speculate, or assume that it

          7  went to somebody's responsibility. The City made the

          8  decision, yes. The City of New York makes the

          9  decisions. It is not our decision of where we go to

         10  work, it is somebody in the City of New York. But I

         11  was looking to identify a person, and I can't do

         12  that.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: And when

         14  was this, do you remember?

         15                 MR. SEABRUE: That was list number

         16  5177, and that was a couple of years ago.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: A couple

         18  of years ago?

         19                 MR. SEABRUE: Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: And there

         21  was never a point at which if certain people were

         22  chosen for corrections, there was never a point at

         23  which they could say, well, now maybe I could

         24  transfer over?

         25                 MR. SEABRUE: No, because you either
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          2  took Corrections -- if you weren't called for the

          3  police and you were appointed to Correction, you

          4  either took Correction or you were just thrown off

          5  the list completely.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: And that

          7  was only done that one time?

          8                 MR. SEABRUE: It was done one time

          9  because I think the President of the United States

         10  signed some type of law making an age requirement

         11  for police officers, and I think that is what

         12  separated the list. Had there not been the President

         13  of the United States signing an age requirement for

         14  police officers, then we would still have the same

         15  exams.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Also, what

         17  is the size of the force, including --

         18                 MR. SEABRUE: For the Correction

         19  Officers Benevolent Association, we are at 10,763

         20  right about now. The Correction Captains, 950, and

         21  the Assistant Deputy Wardens are at 180.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Now, is

         23  that the hierarchy?

         24                 MR. SEABRUE: That goes all the way

         25  up, yes, Ma'am.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Okay,

          3  thank you.

          4                 MR. SEABRUE: You are welcome.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: If there are no

          6  further questions, we would like to thank the

          7  panelists.

          8                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM:  Thank you, Mr.

          9  Chairman, ladies and gentlemen.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: At this moment we

         11  would like to take a vote and leave the vote open

         12  for Councilman Miller, if there are no objections.

         13                 Roll call, please.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Rivera.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Robles.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Mr. Chairman,

         18  my name being called, I would like to temporarily be

         19  excused to explain my vote.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Go right ahead,

         21  Mr. Robles.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Thank you, Mr.

         23  Chairman.

         24                 Let me say that I intend to vote on

         25  all coupled general orders. Let me just say,
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          2  however, when it comes to SLR 17, for the record, I

          3  am voting for this bill, however, I want for the

          4  record you to know that my brother is a Correction

          5  Officer. I do not apologize, my family is very proud

          6  of him. He did it on his own, so in no way my vote

          7  should in any way be taken as favoritism but rather

          8  I believe that the men and women who serve us in the

          9  Correction Department, our stepchildren, have not

         10  been treated the way they are supposed to, and

         11  either we have one family called law enforcement or

         12  we don't, and I believe that I have been consistent

         13  when it comes to 15 years that I have been in this

         14  Council, a peace officer is a peace officer, I don't

         15  care what color you try to paint it. And for that

         16  reason I withdraw my request and I vote in the

         17  affirmative on all.

         18                 And please add my name with pride on

         19  this bill.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: We will do that.

         21  We will add your name to the bill.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Sabini.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Aye on all.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Provenzano.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: I just
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          2  would like to explain my vote also.

          3                 Several people have made note of the

          4  fact that Correction Officers, many of them reside

          5  within the five boroughs. I have many of them that

          6  live in my district. I have one or two of them that

          7  I have watched grow up and that are now members of

          8  Correction Officers, that I must say I am very proud

          9  of, and when you say that you are stepchildren, I

         10  have to say that Peter and Norman, particularly, you

         11  have really done a lot to change that image since

         12  you have been at the helm.

         13                 Having said that, I would like to

         14  vote yes on all.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Stabile.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: May I be

         17  excused to explain my vote?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: I have no

         20  relatives that are Correction Officers, but I will

         21  tell you I have a great deal of friends who are

         22  Correction Officers who, unfortunately, because of a

         23  lot of problems, have to work two jobs and

         24  everything else, like a lot of people do in the

         25  City, but there is one extra fact that has to be
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          2  named, that they are working under the worst

          3  conditions possible. Could you imagine the criminal

          4  you lock up, who is serving a time in jail, who

          5  doesn't care when he gets out, is serving your food,

          6  okay? Just that theory alone, I wouldn't eat, I

          7  would probably lose 100 pounds. Maybe I should

          8  become a Correction Officer, I don't know. But I

          9  will tell you something, I want my name put to the

         10  bill, please, Mr. Chairman. I support it

         11  wholeheartedly.

         12                 Now, I want to give a word to the

         13  Uniformed Officers Association, which Norman heads

         14  up. You have been a driving force in turning this

         15  thing around, and you truly are a good leader and

         16  you represent a lot of good people in this City and

         17  I applaud you.

         18                 Yes on all.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Oddo.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Mr. Chairman,

         21  may I be temporarily excused to explain my vote?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you.

         24                 You know, I came to City Hall today

         25  fully prepared to vote for a variable supplements
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          2  fund, that was SLR 4, which would give retirees from

          3  the Parks Department, from the Sanitation

          4  Department, from the Transit Authority a variable

          5  supplement fund. Unfortunately that item is not on

          6  the agenda, and I would be remiss if I didn't ask my

          7  colleagues to consider placing that item on the

          8  agenda the next time this Committee meets.

          9                 A commitment was made by the

         10  leadership of this body to those retirees. Thanks to

         11  the great work of Central staff this bill would come

         12  at absolutely no cost to the City of New York, and

         13  it troubles me that while we are taking up a

         14  variable supplement fund for the Corrections

         15  Officers, and Captains, one which may very well be

         16  justified, I am deeply troubled by the fact that we

         17  don't have SLR 4 on the agenda, and I had to get

         18  that on the record.

         19                 We were talking about relatives

         20  earlier, Council Member Robles and Council Member

         21  Stabile, and I just for the record feel like I have

         22  to clarify sort of a prejudice or a stigma attached

         23  to me as the second Republican on this Committee. I

         24  think the expectation from various union

         25  representatives and from my colleagues is that as a
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          2  Republican conservative, I will have a knee-jerk

          3  reaction and vote no on this legislation, and for

          4  those of my colleagues and those out in the audience

          5  who don't know, I come from a family of City

          6  workers. My two grandfathers worked for the City,

          7  one for the Transit Authority, one for the

          8  Sanitation Department. My dad worked for the Transit

          9  Authority for 35 years. My oldest brother is a

         10  Lieutenant in the Fire Department, my other brother

         11  is a retired police officer. If I was anti-labor I

         12  would not be able to go home on Sunday for dinner.

         13  So, I am not anti-labor.

         14                 I came here today with some serious

         15  reservations based on the letter from the Actuary.

         16  On questioning he stated on the record that those

         17  technical problems were not fatal to the bill so

         18  those issues really are no concern to me.

         19                 I still have some serious

         20  reservations about the cost of this bill, and as one

         21  of only two members on this Committee who will be in

         22  this institution hopefully past 2001, I think my

         23  concerns about the cost are genuine.

         24                 We as a body will vote on this bill

         25  collectively tomorrow. I am going to buy myself 24
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          2  more hours by voting an abstention vote, and I would

          3  ask that the union reps reach out to me and the

          4  Actuary reach out to me so that I am comfortable

          5  with the exact cost of this bill.

          6                 I vote aye on all, with the exception

          7  of SLR 17 I will abstain.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you.

         10                 The results?

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: By a vote of

         12  ten in the affirmative, none in the negative, with

         13  no abstentions, all coupled items are approved,

         14  except for SLR 17, which has a vote of nine in the

         15  affirmative, none in the negative and one

         16  abstention, and the vote is still open.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         18  much. At this moment we will adjourn this meeting.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 (Hearing concluded at 2:55 p.m.)
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 27th day of April 1999.

         20
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         22

         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N
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          7

          8

          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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